Statistics Surveys Vol. 2 (2008) 94–112 ISSN: 1935-7516 DOI: 10.1214/07-SS016

Text Data Mining: Theory and Methods^{*,†}

Jeffrey L. Solka

Naval Surface Warfare Center Dahlgren Division Attention Jeff Solka 18444 Frontage Rd,Suite 328 Dahlgren Virginia, 22448-5161

Abstract: This paper provides the reader with a very brief introduction to some of the theory and methods of text data mining. The intent of this article is to introduce the reader to some of the current methodologies that are employed within this discipline area while at the same time making the reader aware of some of the interesting challenges that remain to be solved within the area. Finally, the articles serves as a very rudimentary tutorial on some of techniques while also providing the reader with a list of references for additional study.

AMS 2000 subject classifications: Primary 62-01; secondary 62A01. **Keywords and phrases:** text data mining, clustering, visualization, pattern recognition, discriminant analysis, dimensionality reduction, feature extraction, manifold learning.

Received March 2007.

Contents

1	Introduction	95
2	Definitions	96
3	Feature Extraction	96
4	From Features to Interpoint Distance Calculation	99
5	Dimensionality Reduction	99
6	Clustering	102
7	Discriminant Analysis	103
8	Visualization	104
9	Coupled Strategies	107
10	Putting it all together	107
11	Conclusions	109
12	Acknowledgments	109
Re	eferences	109

*The author thanks the Office of Naval Research for the support of this work.

 $^\dagger \mathrm{This}$ paper was accepted by Xiaotong Shen, Associate Editor for the IMS.

1. Introduction

Alvin Toffler [52], the famed author of Future Shock and other fine works, once proclaimed: "Knowledge is the most democratic source of power." I believe this idea holds great weight as we proceed forward into the 21st century. A number of companies have created effective business models based on the management of information. In these times, the ability to extract information from many and disparate sources of data will help determine, in part, the balance of power between corporations and among nations.

Besides the usual quantitative or qualitative data familiar to statisticians, the data that serves as input to the information extraction algorithms can take any form, including imagery, video, audio or text. Here I will focus on text-based data sources. The textual data sources for information extraction can range from free form text to semi-formatted text (html, xml and others) and includes those sources that are encoded in open source document formats (OpenDocument) and other proprietary formats (Microsoft Word and Microsoft Powerpoint). I feel that the problem of extracting information from these data sources is one that offers great challenges to the statistical community. The plan for this article is to discuss some of these challenges and to generate interest in the community in this particular topic area.

Data mining on text has been designated at various times as statistical text processing, knowledge discovery in text, intelligent text analysis, or natural language processing, depending on the application and the methodology that is used [1]. Examples of text mining tasks include classifying documents into a set of specified topic areas (supervised learning), grouping documents such that each member of each group has similar meaning (clustering or unsupervised learning), and finding documents that satisfy some search criteria (information retrieval). In the interest of space, I will not provide discussions on information retrieval. The reader is referred to the recent work by Michael Berry that provides discussions on some of the recent work in these areas [5].

I plan to describe the text mining problem within the framework of those steps that need to be performed in virtually any data mining problem. The first step is the extraction of features on the document collections so that one can perform computations and apply statistical methodologies. The extracted features should somehow capture the content of the documents. Ideally, they should capture the content in such a manner that documents discussing similar topics, but with different terminology, would have similar features.

Next, one must formulate a way to measure the distances between the documents, where the distance is constructed to indicate how similar they are in content. As will be shown, this not only allows us to apply classification and clustering methods, it also enables one to formulate strategies to reduce the inherent dimensionality of the encoded document features. (The purpose of dimensionality reduction is to provide a more meaningful geometrization of the features.) Given a rendering of the features in a lower dimensional space, we can then turn our attention to clustering, discriminant analysis, or visualization of the document information space. The subsequent sections of this article serve to lay out these steps in more detail with an emphasis on the statistical challenges within each step.

2. Definitions

I have already used several terms and phrases without defining them, so I will now provide some definitions before proceeding with the remainder of the article. I use the definition of data mining provided by David Hand, Heikki Mannila and Padhraic Smyth in *Principles of Data Mining (p. 1)* [21].

Data mining is the analysis of (often large) observational data sets to find unsuspected relationships and to summarize the data in novel ways that are both understandable and useful to the data owner.

As was previously stated, **text data mining** is concerned with data mining methodologies applied to textual sources.

A **document** is a sequence of words and punctuation, following the grammatical rules of the language. A document is any relevant segment of text and can be of any length. Examples of documents include sentences, paragraphs, sections, chapters, books, web pages, emails, etc. A **term** is usually a word, but it can also be a word-pair or phrase. In this article, I will use term and word interchangeably. A **corpus** is a collection of documents, and we will see that many of the feature extraction methods are corpus dependent. Finally, a **lexicon** is the set of all unique words in the corpus.

3. Feature Extraction

The first part of feature extraction is pre-processing the lexicon. This typically involves three parts: removal of stop words, stemming, and term weighting. Any one, all, or none of these can be applied to the lexicon. The application and usefulness of these methods is an open research question in text data mining and should be of interest to the statistical community.

Stop words are those common words that do not add meaningful content to the document. Some examples are: the, and, but, or. Stop words can be a pre-specified list of words or they can be dependent on the context or corpus. Stemming is often applied in the area of information retrieval, where the goal is to enhance system performance and to reduce the number of unique words. Stemming is the process of removing suffixes and prefixes, leaving the root or stem of the word. For example, the words protecting, protected, protects, and protection would be reduced to the root word protect. This makes sense, since the words have similar meaning. However, some stemmers would reduce the word probate to probe and the word relativity to relate, which convey different meanings. This does not seem to affect results in information retrieval, but it could have some undesirable consequences in classification and clustering. Stemming and the removal of stop words will reduce the size of the lexicon, thus saving on computational resources. The Porter stemming algorithm is a commonly employed stemming procedure [42]. As we will see shortly, one way to encode text is to count how many times a term appears in a document. This is called the **term-frequency** method. However, terms that have a large frequency are not necessarily more important or have higher discrimination power. So, we might want to weight the terms with respect to the local context, the document, or the corpus. Nearly all of the **term weighting** currently in use are not based on theory or mathematics, but are rather ad hoc. The most popular term weighting seems to be the **inverse document frequency**, where the term frequency is weighted with respect to the total number of times the term **grequency inverse document frequency** (tfidf)[46].The exact formulation for tfidf is given below

$$w_{i,j} = tf_{i,j} * \log(\frac{N}{df_i}), \tag{3.1}$$

where $w_{i,j}$ is the weight of term *i* in document $j, tf_{i,j}$ = number of occurrences of term *i* in document *j*, *N* is the total number of documents, and df_i is the number of documents containing term *i*.

The development and understanding of the impact of term weights on text data mining methodologies is another area where statisticians can contribute.

Given that one has pre-processed the lexicon (or not), we then encode the content of the documents. One simple way to do this is using a vector space or **bag of words** approach. This approach has the advantage because it does not require any natural language processing, such as part of speech identification or language translation. The corpus is encoded as a **term-document matrix** X with n rows and p columns, where n represents the number of words in the lexicon (full or pre-processed lexicon), and p is the number of documents. Thus, the x_{ij} element of the matrix X contains the number of times the *i*-th term appears in the *j*-th document (the term frequency). As we stated before, this could also be a weighted frequency. Encoding the corpus as a matrix allows one to utilize the power of linear algebra to analyze the document collection. The reader is referred to the recent work by Berry that does a nice job of explaining this encoding scheme [4]. See Figure 1 for an example of a term-document matrix.

The vector space approach has been expanded to incorporate word order in the sense of word pairs or triples. Here I will describe word pairs, but it is easily extended to triples or higher. Instead of one term-document matrix, we encode each document as a matrix called the **bigram proximity matrix**, so we now have p matrices to work with [37]. First, we have to do some extra pre-processing of the documents. All punctuation is removed (e.g., commas, semi-colons, colons, dashes, etc.), and all end-of-sentence punctuation is converted to a period. The period is considered a word in the lexicon. Thus, each bigram proximity matrix has n rows and n columns. While we are now in a much higher dimensional space, these matrices are usually very sparse, so we can apply computationally efficient matrix techniques to store and analyze them. See Figure 2 for an example of a bigram proximity matrix for a document consisting of one sentence. Documents:

D1: Data Mining Techniques: For Marketing, Sales, and Customer Relationship Management

D2: Principles of Data Mining (Adaptive Computation and Machine Learning)

D3: Data Mining: Practical Machine Learning Tools and Techniques with Java

Implementations D4: Mastering Data Mining: The Art and Science of Customer Relationship Management D5: Mastering Data Modeling: A User-Driven Approach D6: Investigative Data Mining for Security and Criminal Detection D7: Science and Criminal Detection D9: Of the Mining for Security and Criminal Detection

D8: Crime and Human Nature: The Definitive Study of the Causes of Crime

D9: Statistics on Crime and Criminals: A Handbook of Primary Data

Term-Document Matrix:

	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D 7	D8	D9
crime (inal)	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	2	2
customer	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
data	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1
detection	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0
learning	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
machine	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
management	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
mastering	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0
mining	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0
relationship	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0
science	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
techniques	1	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0

FIG 1. Here we show a small corpus of nine book titles on data analysis and detecting crime; each title is a document. To save space, we are only using the italicized words in the document list. Note that we stemmed the words crime and criminal to crime. The ij-th element of the term-document matrix shows the number of times the *i*-th word appears in the *j*-th document.

	•	democratic	is	knowledge	most	of	power	source	the
•	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
democratic	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0
is	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1
knowledge	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0
most	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
of	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
power	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
source	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0
the	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0

FIG 2. This shows a bigram proximity matrix for the sentence: Knowledge is the most democratic source of power. By convention, we alphabetized the lexicon and placed the period at the beginning.

There are of course other alternative approaches to the bag of words and ngram approaches. One recently developed methodology encodes the document as a single string in order to support analysis within a support vector machine framework, [33]. There are also publicly available natural language processing toolkits that allow one to perform part of speech tagging and other sorts of operations on their corpora [6].

4. From Features to Interpoint Distance Calculation

To address the text data mining tasks of clustering, classification, and information retrieval, we need a notion of distance or similarity between the documents. Many of these are proposed in the literature [36]; however, the choice of a measure is an important consideration when analyzing text. The most commonly used measure in text data mining and information retrieval is the cosine of the angle between vectors representing the documents [4]. Assume we have two document vectors \vec{a} and \vec{q} , then the cosine of the angle between them, θ , is given by

$$\cos(\theta) = \frac{\vec{a}^T \vec{q}}{||\vec{a}||_2 ||\vec{q}||_2},\tag{4.1}$$

where $||\vec{a}||_2$ is the usual L_2 norm of vector \vec{a} . Note that larger values of this measure indicate documents are close together, and smaller values indicate the documents are further apart. We can easily apply this measure to the bigram proximity matrices by converting each matrix to a vector - for example by just piling each column on top of the other.

The cosine measure is a similarity measure rather than a distance. We are usually more comfortable working with distances, but we can easily convert similarities to distances. First, assume that we have organized our similarities into a positive-definite matrix C, where the ij-th element of this matrix indicates the similarity of the *i*-th and *j*-th documents. Then one way to convert this value to a Euclidean distance is to use the following formula [17]:

$$d_{ij} = \sqrt{c_{ii} - 2c_{ij} + c_{jj}}.$$
 (4.2)

Note that when two documents are the same $(c_{ii} = c_{jj})$ then the distance is zero.

5. Dimensionality Reduction

The space in which the documents reside is typically thousands of dimensions or more. Given the collection of documents, along with the associated interpoint distance matrix, one is often interested in finding a convenient lower-dimensional space to perform subsequent analysis. This might be chosen to facilitate visualization, clustering, or classification. One hopes that by applying dimensionality reduction, one can remove noise from the data and better apply our statistical data mining methods to discover subtle relationships that might exist between the documents.

Let's first consider a particularly interesting projection (a way to reduce the number of dimensions) that can be calculated directly from the term-document matrix. It turns out that one can make use of a well-known theorem from linear algebra to obtain a set of useful projections via singular value decomposition. This has come to be known in text data mining and natural language processing as **latent semantic indexing (analysis)**[15].

The singular value decomposition allows us to write the term-document matrix as a product of three matrices:

$$X = TSD^T. (5.1)$$

T is the matrix of left singular vectors; S is the diagonal matrix of singular values; and D is the matrix of right singular vectors. Singular value decomposition is known to be unique up to certain sign, row, and column permutations. The diagonal elements of S are constructed by convention to be all positive and ordered in decreasing magnitude. The left singular vectors T span the columns of X (the document space), and the right singular vectors D span the rows of X (the term space). The exact mathematical mechanism behind singular value decomposition is described in most undergraduate linear algebra books, so we will not go into detail here [20].

We can remove noise by using the largest k singular values and their associated left and right singular vectors to obtain a rank k approximation to the original matrix X. This new matrix is the rank k matrix closest to X in a least squares sense and is given by

$$\tilde{X} = T_k S_k D_k^T. \tag{5.2}$$

Choosing k to be much smaller than the full rank of the matrix allows the projection to simultaneously denoise the document collection and ensure that documents that are semantically related will be close together in the projected space.

There are other methods for dimensionality reduction that use matrices derived from the term-document matrix. A well-known example from statistics is principal component analysis, which uses the eigenvectors from either the covariance or correlation matrix to reduce the dimensionality [25]. See Figure 3 for an illustration of the documents of Figure 1 projected onto the first two principal components.

Singular value decomposition and principal component analysis are suitable methods for the term-document matrix encoding. However, what can we do when we have each document encoded as a bigram proximity matrix? In this case, we could exploit methods that use the interpoint distance matrix rather than X. For example, we might use any of the multidimensional scaling methods: classical, metric, or non-metric. Multidimensional scaling methods seek a space such that documents that are close together in the original space are close together in the reduced space [14].



FIG 3. Here we show the results of using principal component analysis on the term-document matrix in Figure 1 We projected the data onto the first two principal components. Several interesting things should be noted. Documents 1, 2, 3, and 4 pertain to data mining, and they are placed at the top part of the graph. They are further sub-divided into two areas - one on customer relationships and another on machine learning. Documents 7, 8, and 9 describe crime, and they are placed close together at the bottom of the plot. Document 6 straddles these two topics (data mining and criminal detection), and it appears between these two topic areas.

There have been a number of recent advances in the area of dimensionality reduction. A recent extension of the multidimensional scaling formulation is the nonlinear dimensionality reduction procedure of isometric mapping (ISOMAP)[51]. The idea behind this method is that in some cases a better indication of the distance between two objects is not Euclidean, but rather the minimal distance along some (unknown) surface that parameterizes the dataset. The calculation of geodesics on general surfaces is an intractable problem so the ISOMAP procedure approximates these using shortest paths calculated on nearest neighbor or epsilon-ball graphs. Given this graph, one obtains a new geodesic-based interpoint distance matrix where the ij-th entry represents the graph theoretic estimation of the geodesic distance between these two points. One typically uses this modified interpoint distance matrix as a starting point for a multidimensional scaling procedure. There has been some progress in the application of ISOMAP to the text data mining area. Previous work in the literature has demonstrated the usefulness of an ISOMAP-based dimensionality reduction procedure on a set of bigram proximity matrices that was then used for document clustering and exploratory data analysis [37].

There are several alternatives to the ISOMAP procedure. One of these known as local linear embedding (LLE), attempts to model the surface that the dataset resides in as set of linear maps which are then used to approximate the data surface [45]. LLE has been offered up as a nonlinear alternative to LSI and applications of LLE to text data were discussed within the 2000 paper [45]. Another alternative approach is based on Laplacian eigenmaps [3]. In this case one uses a numerical approximation of the heat equation to model the intrinsic geometry of the data.

Alternatively, one can approach the dimensionality reduction problem as one of identifying the appropriate matrix factorization methodology as applied to the term-document matrix. One alternative to the SVD that has recently been considered is nonnegative matrix factorization [47]. This paper discusses the application of this approach to document clustering. One advantage of nonnegative matrix factorization over the standard SVD is the ease of interoperability of the positive entries in the matrix factors as compared to those produced by the SVD.

Solving for these surfaces that encode datasets has often been designated in the literatures as **manifold learning** rather than dimensionality reduction. Manifold learning is a challenging mathematical and statistical problem. It is particularly difficult in the presence of noise and high dimensionality, both of which we have in text data mining applications. The reader is referred to the recent work of Lee and Verleysen for a rather thorough discussion of the state of the art of nonlinear dimensionality reduction [32].

Another open research area in dimensionality reduction has to do with determining the number of dimensions to use in the reduced space. What is the intrinsic dimensionality represented by the data? When we use principal component analysis, singular value decomposition, or ISOMAP, then we can construct a scree-like plot. A scree plot usually plots points with the index on the horizontal axis and the eigenvalue (or singular value) on the vertical axis. We then look for the elbow in the curve as an estimate of the number of dimensions to use. This is rather ad hoc, and depends on the method used for dimensionality reduction.

6. Clustering

Now that we have converted our text to quantitative data, we can use any of the clustering methodologies familiar to statisticians. For example, we could apply k-means clustering, agglomerative clustering, or model-based clustering (based on estimating finite mixture probability densities)[17]. Rather than go into detail on these well-known methods, we offer the following graph-based approach.

One can cast the term-document matrix as a bipartite graph where the documents are on the left-hand-side of this graph, and the terms are on the righthand-side. The graph is designated a bipartite graph because there are edges only between the documents and the terms. There are no edges between the documents or between the terms. Given this encoding one can view document clustering as a graph cut problem, where one attempts to divide a graph into two groups in such a way as to minimize the number of edges that pass between them. Approximate solutions to this problem can be obtained using a spectral decomposition of the graph Laplacian. A benefit of this approach is that it allows one to obtain a simultaneous clustering of terms and documents. This makes sense in that a clustering of terms would naturally induce a clustering of documents and a clustering of documents would induce a clustering of terms. This property is handy in that the terms that reside in a particular document cluster can illustrate the content without having to perform additional analysis [16].

There are of course many other fruitful approaches to the clustering problem. The performance of many of these techniques have been studied by George Karypis of the University of Minnesota [50; 54]. George has implemented a number of these clustering algorithms within an open source publicly available software package called the CLUstering TOolkit (CLUTO). My group has utilized CLUTO for a number of projects, and we find its performance (in terms of a number of factors, including speed of execution and number of implemented algorithms) to be quite impressive. The performance of CLUTO as compared to a number of other algorithms has also been studied by Zhong and Ghosh [56].

The open research questions in document clustering are familiar to most statisticians. The output of the clustering is dependent on the method that is used to group the documents. In most cases, these methods will produce the specified number of clusters, but we then need to look at the clusters to determine whether or not they are meaningful. Some recent work by Mather has provided one methodology for the evaluation of cluster quality [38]. We would also like to have an estimate of the number of clusters represented by the data, and much work remains to be done on this. There has of course been preliminary progress in this area based on model-based clustering approaches [17].

Finally, I believe that the idea of sub-topics or sub-groups is particularly appropriate for document clustering, as document meaning is difficult to assess. For example, documents could be clustered or classified based on meaning at a macro level, such as physics, biology, chemistry, psychology, etc., but can also have a hierarchy of sub-groupings. I believe that the application of iterative decomposition schemes may be particularly beneficial [43].

7. Discriminant Analysis

Once one has converted the corpus to an inner point distance matrix then one can apply simple nearest neighbor classifiers to the data [17]. Since the inherent high dimensionality of the document features precludes a straightforward application of feature-based classification, strategies such as linear/quadratic classifiers, mixture models, and classification trees must be coupled with dimensionality reduction strategies. These are discussed in section 9. There are however a few approaches that can be discussed within this section.

Lakshminarayan has examined the application of hierarchical and modelbased clustering methodologies along with various discriminant analysis approaches to improve customer experience [31]. Kang et al. has examined the application of multinomial event models in conjunction with a naive Bayes classifier to both protein localization schemes and Reuters text data [26]. Bao and Ishii have presented a new method of combining nearest neighbor classifiers for improved text classification [2].

Howland and Park have applied generalized singular value decomposition to text discriminant analysis [24]. The interesting thing about this approach is that they have developed a method of discriminant analysis that is applicable when the number of observations is less than the dimensions of the feature space. Romero, Marquez and Carreras have developed a new learning model for a feed forward network that is inspired by AdaBoost [44]. They have applied the methodology to text data. Fei et al. have developed a hypertext categorization scheme based on the utilization of directed acyclic graph support vectors machines [19].

There are a number of challenges to the development of classification schemes for text documents. One of the first challenges is dealing with the problems of synonymy and polysemy. **Synonymy** is the fact that multiple words can have the same meaning. **Polysemy** is the fact that a single word can have multiple meanings. Another challenge is the development of efficient schemes for encoding document collections. Much work still needs to be done at the interface between simple "bag of words" based approaches and more complicated natural language processing schemes. Another challenge is the development of classification schemes that can handle large document collections. The final challenge that I will mention is the development of classification schemes for the classification of streaming document sources. These document sources, such as news data, streams forth in a continuous manner. Methods for the analysis of this type of data are needed.

8. Visualization

Visualization can play a role in all of the topic areas that we have discussed so far. Visualization can be used in order to evaluate feature extraction techniques within an exploratory data analysis framework. It can similarly be used to help discern data structure after the application of dimensionality reduction schemes. It can be used to visually identify cluster structure or to help in the identification of outliers. Finally we note that visualization can be used to aid in discovery by suggesting interesting associations between documents or terms. This type of approach is fruitful when comparing disparate corpora. Let's take a moment to highlight some of the interesting applications of visualization to document collections.

Morris and Yen have developed an interesting visualization scheme to identify relationships among disparate entity types [39]. Their schema uses agglomerative clustering to solve for entity groups among the two data types. For example one data type might be research fronts while the other data type is author collaboration groups. They have also used their technique to study the temporal evolution of topic areas as a function of citation count. Song has studied the benefit of visualization to "information foraging" [49]. Specifically, they evaluated the information retrieval benefits of a visualization framework coupled with clustering. They measured the improvements in human performance based on such figures of merit as retrieval accuracy, time to retrieval, and user satisfaction with the visualization system.

Lagus, Kaski, and Kohonen have developed a method for the application of self organizing maps to large document collections [30]. This methodology, entitled WEBSOM, has been applied to extremely large document collections in order to provide a self organizing map visualization schema for the collection. The above referenced article [30] discusses the application of their technique to an analysis of the Encyclopedia Britannica.

Katy Börner has made an in-depth study the application of visualization to text data mining. Some of her interesting works include maps of the backbone of science [9] and the detection of topic bursts [35]. Recently she has been investigating the fruitful interaction between visualization schemes and network modeling as applied to text data [8]. She has also done some very nice work with regards to temporal analysis of text documents [7]. She has a rather lengthy paper in the Annual Review of Information Science and Technology (ARIST) on the visualization of knowledge domains [10]. This paper discusses numerous approaches to the analysis of a collection of papers that are on the topic of citation analysis.

Before turning our attention to discussing visualization challenges, let's consider an example or two of visualization in action. In the first example, we illustrate a dendrogramic interface into a divisive calculated clustering on a small collection of explosives detection documents Figure 4. This interactive framework allows the user to interactively explore, expand, collapse, and drill down on nodes of the clustering solution as calculated on the document collection [41].

The second example presents an alternative cluster visualization framework, see Figure 5. This framework uses a rectangular divisive scheme to visualize a model-based clustering solution as calculated on a small news corpus. The observations have been numbered based on prior provided class labels and the squares are calculated in order to reflect cluster membership as determined using the model-based clustering procedure. The observations have been colored according to mixture calculated posterior probability of membership in the particular cluster, as designated by the square region. This framework has a number of applications including the identification of potential discoveries across topic area. The reader is referred to the dissertation of Martinez for a full discussion of this methodology [37].

The visualization challenges in text data mining are many. Visualization strategies for the layout of large document collections are needed. Alternative strategies for the visualization of cluster structure are needed. Visualization schemes that allow for the efficient simultaneous visualization of terms and documents are needed. Visualization methods for the facilitation of discovery are also needed. Finally we note that much remains to be done in the area of temporal analysis of document collections.



 ${\rm FIG}$ 4. Here we present a dendrogramic visualization of a small document collection on explosives detection

	Jac Den d=6 B7		
9 9 9 9 9 9 1 2121212222 9 9 9 9 9 162121212222	6 913171824 8 8 8 11111 5 913171625 8 8 8 11111	6 17 10 18 18 24 8 8 11 11 11 11 1 8 17 18 18 18 24 8 8 11 11 11 11 11	
9 9 9 9 162121212222 9 9 9 9 21 21 22 9 9 9 9 21 21 22 9 9 9 9 21 21 22	5 111317 8 8 8 8 11111 6 11131818 8 8 8 1111	16 17 18 16 18 24 8 8 11 11 11 11 11 16 17 18 18 21 24 8 8 11 11 11 11 11 15 17 18 18 24 24	0.7
6 6 6 6 16	81113 22 8 8111111 91113 24 8 8111111 913 24 8 8111111	15 17 18 18 24 24 8 8 111111111 15 16 18 18 24 24 8 1111111111 15 18 18 24 24 8 1111111111 15 18 18 24 24 8 1111111111	0.6
16 16<	1215151515 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	4 4 11 17 18 22 4 17 18 18 18 18 4 4 11 18 18 22 12 17 18 18 18 18	0.4
11 15 15 6 6 6 12 15 15 15 6 6 6 15 15 15 6 6 6 6 15 15 15 6 6 6 6	1215151515 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 15151515 5 5 5 5	4 4 15 18 12 17 16 16 16 4 4 15 18 12 17 17 18 18 18 4 4 15 16 18 22 17 17 18 18 18 4 4 15 16 18 22 17 17 18 18 18	0.3
252525 121212 6 7 <th7< th=""> 7 <th7< th=""> 7 7 <th7<< td=""><td>5 5</td><td>4 5 15 16 17 17 18 18 18 4 5 15 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18 4 5 15 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18 4 6 16 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18</td><td> 0.1</td></th7<<></th7<></th7<>	5 5	4 5 15 16 17 17 18 18 18 4 5 15 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18 4 5 15 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18 4 6 16 18 18 22 17 17 18 18 18	0.1
2525 121212 8 11 11 11	15151515 55555	4 6 16 18 18 17 17 18 18 18	

FIG 5. Here we present a rectangular divisive scheme for the visualization of a mixture-based clustering solution as calculated on a small news corpus.(Reprinted with permission of Angel Martinez)

9. Coupled Strategies

There are a number of ways that one can fruitfully combine the various steps in the text data mining areas. There can be benefits to the combination of dimensionality reduction and clustering or dimensionality reduction and discriminant analysis. There can even be benefits to coupling feature extraction to dimensionality reduction, clustering, or discriminant analysis.

For example How and Kion have examined the benefit of local versus global features sets and local versus global dictionaries in text categorization [22]. Local features are class dependent features while global features are class independent features. Local dictionaries are class dependent dictionaries while global dictionaries while global dictionaries are class independent dictionaries. Their work suggests that the best text categorization is obtained using local features and local dictionaries. Karras and Mertzios developed a neural network based methodology for semantic like document feature extraction for improved text categorization [27]. They tested these features against standard word count type features using several classifiers including k nearest neighbors, multi-layer perceptrons, and support vector machines. Chen et al. have developed a classifier independent technique for assessing the benefit of various document features it is expected to have benefits to not only dimensionality reduction but also discriminant analysis and clustering.

Dy and Brodleey have looked at combining dimensionality reduction and mixture-based clustering [18]. Park, Jeon and Rosen have examined the benefit of centroid based dimensionality reduction to discriminant analysis in a space of reduced dimensionality [40]. Cleuziou et al have developed a dimensionality reduction methodology that exploits the the Distributional Divisive Overlapping Clustering (DDOC) fuzzy-based clustering technique in order to produce a more fruitful document space for discriminant analysis [13]. Chouchoulas and Shen have studied the fruitful interaction between rough set theory and discriminant analysis [12]. Lu, Xu, and Jiang have studied the benefit of non-negative matrix factorization as compared to singular value decomposition in text categorization [34].

Kostoff and Block have studied the fruitful combination of factor analysis and text clustering [29]. Howland, Jeon, and Park have studied the application of generalized singular value decomposition to the preservation of text cluster structure [23].

10. Putting it all together

The steps discussed in this article can be integrated into a full end-to-end process as follows (see Figure 6). We start out with a small collection of documents, roughly 1,100 extended abstracts, each of which is about 1.5 pages in length. After removing stop words and stemming, these are converted into 1100 sparse bigram proximity matrices that are roughly 50,000 by 50,000. An interpoint dis-

From 50,000² to Six Dimensional Space



FIG 6. An example that illustrates combining the requisite steps in text data mining in order to facilitate cluster discovery

tance matrix is computed on these matrices using the cosine similarity measure (converted to a distance).

We then apply ISOMAP and construct a scree plot. The elbow in the curve appears at six, so we project to six-dimensional space. The six-dimensional set of observations is then clustered using a model-based clustering procedure. The model-based procedure has the advantage of estimating the number of clusters as indicated by the Bayesian Information Criterion [37]. Given the cluster structure one can explore the clusters using a minimal spanning tree (MST) computed on each cluster.

The MST offers a natural ordering on the data and acts as a summary graph. The MST has previously been employed by the research community for various data analysis tasks. Kim, Kwon, and Cook have previously employed the MST along with multidimensional scaling as an exploratory data analysis tool [28]. Xu, Olman, and Xu have previously applied the MST to the clustering of gene expression data [53]. Zheng et al. have used the MST for document clustering [55]. Some of my previous work has examined the use of the MST as a means to navigate document space looking for interesting associations between articles residing in disparate categories [48].

11. Conclusions

We have provided a very brief introduction to text data mining within the pages of this article. There are numerous challenges to the statistical community that reside within this discipline area. The identification of features that capture semantic content is one area of importance. The general manifold learning problem in the presence of noise is a tremendously challenging problem that is just now being formulated and will likely require years of work in order to successfully develop strategies to find the underlying nature of the manifold. Clustering the observations can be coupled with the manifold learning process, and clustering continues to remain a general challenge to the community and a particular challenge in the area of text data mining. As in any data mining or exploratory data analysis effort, visualization of textual data is an essential part of the problem. The statistical community has a great deal to contribute to many of these problems.

12. Acknowledgments

The author would like to thank numerous people for helpful discussions on the ideas that led to this paper. Some of the individuals who paid a particularly important role include Dr. Angel Martinez, Mr. Nicholas Tucey, Mr. Avory Bryant, and Mr. John Rigsby. The author would also like to thank the reviewers of the initial submission for their many helpful comments that greatly improved the quality of this manuscript.

References

- BAEZA-YATES, R. AND RIBEIRO-NETO, B. (1999). Modern Information Retrieval. Addison Wesley.
- [2] BAO, Y. G. AND ISHII, N. (2002). Combining multiple k-nreast neighbor classifiers for text classification by reducts. In *Discovery Science 2002*.
- [3] BELKIN, M. AND NIYOGI, P. (2003). Laplacian Eigenmaps for Dimensionality Reduction and Data Representation. *Neural Comp.* 15, 6, 1373–1396.
- [4] BERRY, M. AND BROWNE, M. (2005). Understanding Search Engines: Mathematical Modeling and Text Retrieval(Software, Environments, Tools). SIAM.
- [5] BERRY, M. W. (2003). Survey of Text Mining: Clustering, Classification, and Retrieval (Hardcover). Springer.
- [6] BIRD, S., KLEIN, E., AND LOPER, E. (2007). Natural Language Processing in Python. Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-No Derivative Works 3.0, New York, New York.
- [7] BÖNER, K., DALL'ASTA, L., KE, W., AND VESPIGNANI, A. (2005). Studying the emerging global brain: Analyzing and visualizing the impact of coauthorship teams. *Complexity, special issue on Understanding Complex Systems* 10, 4, 58–67.

- [8] BÖRNER, K., MARU, J., AND GOLDSTONE, R. (2004). Simultaneous evolution of author and paper networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America Supplement 1 101, 5266–5273.
- [9] BOYACK, K. W., KLAVANS, R., AND BÖNER, K. (2005). Mapping the backbone of science. *Scientometrics* 64, 3, 351–374.
- [10] BRNER, K., CHEN, C., AND BOYACK, K. W. (2003). Visualizing knowledge domains. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology (ARIST) 37, 179–255.
- [11] CHEN, D.-Y., LI, X., DONG, Z. Y., AND CHEN, X. (2005). Effectiveness of document representation for classification. In *DaWaK*. 368–377.
- [12] CHOUCHOULAS, A. AND SHEN, Q. (2001). Rough set-aided keyword reduction for text categorization. Applied Artificial Intelligence 15, 9, 843–873.
- [13] CLEUZIOU, G., MARTIN, L., CLAVIER, V., AND VRAIN, C. (2004). Ddoc: Overlapping clustering of words for document classification. In SPIRE. 127–128.
- [14] COX, T. AND COX, M. (2000). Multidimensional Scaling. Chapman and Hall/CRC. MR1335449
- [15] DEERWESTER, S., DUMAIS, S. T., FURNAS, G. W., AND LANDAUER, T. K. (1990). Indexing by latent semantic analysis. *Journal of the Am. Soc. for Information Science* **41**, 6, 391–407.
- [16] DHILLON, I. S. (2001). Co-clustering documents and words using bipartite spectral graph partitioning. In KDD.
- [17] DUDA, R. O., HART, P. E., AND STORK, D. G. (2000). Pattern Classification, Second ed. Wiley Interscience. MR1802993
- [18] DY, J. G. AND BRODLEY, C. E. (2004). Feature selection for unsupervised learning. J. Mach. Learn. Res. 5, 845–889. MR2248002
- [19] FEI, L., WEN-JU, Z., SHUI, Y., FAN-YUAN, M., AND MING-LU, L. (2004). A peer-t-peer hypertext categorization using directed acyclic graph support vector machines. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science 3320*, 54–57.
- [20] HADI, A. (2000). Matrix Algebra as a Tool. CRC.
- [21] HAND, D. J., MANNILA, H., AND SMYTH, P. (2001). Principles of Data Mining (Adaptive Computation and Machine Learning). MIT Press.
- [22] HOW, B. C. AND KIONG, W. T. (2005). An examination of feature selection frameworks in text categorization. In AIRS. 558–564.
- [23] HOWLAND, P., JEON, M., AND PARK, H. (2003). Structure preserving dimension reduction for clustered text data based on the generalized singular value decomposition. *SIAM J. Matrix Anal. Appl.* 25, 1, 165–179. MR2002905
- [24] HOWLAND, P. AND PARK, H. (2004). Generalizing discriminant analysis using the generalized singular value decomposition. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence* 26, 8, 995–1006.
- [25] JOLLIFFE, I. (1986). Principal Component Analysis. Springer-Verlag. MR0841268
- [26] KANG, D.-K., ZHANG, J., SILVESCU, A., AND HONAVAR, V. (2005). Multinomial event model based abstraction for sequence and text classification. In SARA. 134–148.

- [27] KARRAS, D. A. AND MERTZIOS, B. G. (2002). A robust meaning extraction methodology using supervised neural networks. In Australian Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence. 498–510. MR2051176
- [28] KIM, S.-S., KWON, S., AND COOK, D. (2000). Interactive visualization of hierarchical clusters using mds and mst. *Metrika* 51, 1, 39–51.
- [29] KOSTOFF, R. N. AND BLOCK, J. A. (2005). Factor matrix text filtering and clustering: Research articles. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. Technol. 56, 9.
- [30] LAGUS, K., KASKI, S., AND KOHONEN, T. (2004). Mining massive document collections by the websom method. *Information Sciences* 163, 1-3, 135–156.
- [31] LAKSHMINARAYAN, C., YU, Q., AND BENSON, A. (2005). Improving customer experience via text mining. In DNIS. 288–299.
- [32] LEE, J. A. AND VERLEYSEN, M. (2007). Nonlinear Dimensionality Reduction (Information Science and Statistics), First ed. Springer, New York, New York. MR2373983
- [33] LODHI, H., SAUNDERS, C., SHAWE-TAYLOR, J., CRISTIANINI, N., AND WATKINS, C. (2002). Text classification using string kernels. J. Mach. Learn. Res. 2, 419–444.
- [34] LU, J., XU, B., AND JIANG, J. (2004). Generating different semantic spaces for document classification. In AWCC. 430–436.
- [35] MANE, K. AND BÖRNER, K. (2004). Mapping topics and topic bursts in pnas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America Supplement 1 101, 5287–5290.
- [36] MANNING, C. D. AND SCHÜTZE, H. (1999). Foundations of Statistical Natural Language Processing (Hardcover). MIT. MR1722790
- [37] MARTINEZ, A. (2002). A framework for the representation of semantics. Ph.D. thesis, George Mason University.
- [38] MATHER, L. A. (2000). A linear algebra measure of cluster quality. J. Am. Soc. Inf. Sci. 51, 7, 602–613.
- [39] MORRIS, S. A. AND YEN, G. G. (2004). Crossmaps: Visualization of overlapping relationships in collections of journal papers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America Supplement 1 101, 5291–5296.
- [40] PARK, H., JEON, M., AND BEN ROSEN, J. (2003). Lower dimensional representation of text data based on centroids and least squares. *Bit* 43, 2, 1–22. MR2010372
- [41] PLAISANT, C., GROSJEAN, J., AND BEDDERSON, B. (2002). Spacetree: Supporting exploration in large node link tree, design evolution and empirical evaluation. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Symposium on Information Visualization (InfoVis'02).*
- [42] PORTER, M. F. (1980). Algorithm for suffix striping. Program, 130–137.
- [43] PRIEBE, C. E., MARCHETTE, D. J., PARK, Y., WEGMAN, E. J., SOLKA, J., SOCOLINSKY, D., KARAKOS, D., CHURCH, K., GUGLIELMI, R., COIF-MAN, R., LIN, D., HEALY, D., JACOBS, M., AND TSAO, A. (2004). Iteravie denoising for cross-corpus discovery. In *Proceedings of the 2004 Symposium* on Computational Statistics.

- [44] ROMERO, E., MARQUEZ, L., AND CARRERAS, X. (2004). Margin maximization with feed-forward neural networks: a comparative study with svm and adaboost. *Neurocomputing* 57, 313–344.
- [45] ROWEIS, S. AND SAUL, L. (2000). Nonlinear dimensionality reduction by locally linear embedding. *Science* 290, 2323–2326.
- [46] SEBASTIANI, F. (2002). Machine learning in automated text categorization. ACM Comput. Surv. 34, 1, 1–47.
- [47] SHAHNAZ, F., BERRY, M. W., PAUCA, V. P., AND PLEMMONS, R. J. (2006). Document clustering using nonnegative matrix factorization. *Inf. Process. Manage.* 42, 2.
- [48] SOLKA, J. L., BRYANT, A., AND WEGMAN, E. J. (2005). Text data mining with minimal spanning trees. In *Data Mining and Data Visualization*, C. R. Rao, E. J. Wegman, and J. L. Solka, Eds. handbook of statistics, Vol. 24. Elsevier North Holland, Chapter 5, 133–169. MR2169817
- [49] SONG, M. (1998). Can visualizing document space improve users' information foraging. In Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- [50] STEINBACH, M., KARYPRIS, G., AND KUMAR, V. (2000). A comparison of document clustering techniques. In *KDD Workshop on Text Mining*.
- [51] TENEBAUM, J., DE SILVA, V., AND LANGFORD, J. (2001). A global framework for nonlinear dimensionality reduction. *Science* 290, 2319–2323.
- [52] TOFFLER, A. (1991). Future Shock. Bantam.
- [53] XU, Y., OLMAN, V., AND XU, D. (2002). Clustering gene expression data using a graph-theoretic approach: an application of minimum spanning trees. *Bioinformatics* 18, 4, 536–545.
- [54] ZHAO, Y. AND KARYPRIS, G. (2002). Evaluation of hierarchical clustering algorithms for document datasets. In 11th Conference of Information and Knowledge Management (CIKM). 515–524.
- [55] ZHENG, X.-S., HE, P.-L., TIAN, M., AND YUAN, F.-Y. (2003). Algorithm of documents clustering based on minimum spanning tree. In *Machine Learning and Cybernetics*, 2003 International Conference on Vol. 1. 199– 203.
- [56] ZHONG, S. AND GHOSH, J. (2005). Generative model-based document clustering: a comparative study. *Knowl. Inf. Syst.* 8, 3, 374–384.